

Health

COVID-19 and People with Intellectual Disabilities in British Columbia

www.specialolympics.bc.ca

Summary

Despite more than two years passing since the novel coronavirus first emerged, there remains a scarcity of peer-reviewed data concerning its effect on people with intellectual disabilities. However, it is clear that people with intellectual disabilities are at a heightened risk of serious illness and death, and face additional barriers to accessing effective testing and treatment compared to the general population.

Background

Purpose:

The lack of available information concerning the effects of pandemics on people with intellectual disabilities left service providers and regulatory agencies with scarce evidence on which to develop policies and practices during the Covid-19 pandemic, particularly so during the early stages of the outbreak. This document is intended to provide an overview of the experiences of people with intellectual disabilities in British Columbia, a summary of the research that has been conducted since the pandemic began, and suggestions for the successful management of future outbreaks.

Methodology:

A literature review was completed in December 2021 by accessing major academic databases, including PubMed, JSTOR and Wiley. Keyword searches included "Covid-19" or "pandemic" in conjunction with "intellectual disabilities" or "developmental disabilities." This information was supplemented by extensive consultations with stakeholders including people with intellectual disabilities, service providers, community organizations, regulatory agencies, caregivers, and family members. In addition to individual and focus group discussions, three surveys were disseminated to identify information specific to British Columbia (1. Supporters and Family Members, 2. Service Providers, 3. Individuals with Intellectual Disabilities).

Prepared for Special Olympics British Columbia

Drafted by Scott Howe, Friendship League

Version: July 2022

Table of Contents

Introduction	4
Definitions	5
Risk of Infection and Mortality	6
Physical Health	8
Sexual Health	g
Mental Health	g
Barriers to Accessing Health Care	12
Supporters and Family Members	14
Service Providers	17
Triage Protocols	19
Vaccines	21
Conclusion	23
References	24

Introduction

In December 2019, Wuhan – the capital of Hubei province in China – became the centre of an outbreak of an unknown disease that produced pneumonia and additional respiratory symptoms in those affected (Zhou et al., 2020). Over the weeks that followed, scientists isolated a novel coronavirus from infected patients which the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV) named 'severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2.' Shortly after, on February 11, 2020, the WHO stated that the disease caused by the new virus is to be referred to as 'Covid-19' (Zhou et al., 2020) (WHO, 2020 (B)). By March 11, 2020, cases had been identified in 114 countries, prompting the World Health Organization to declare that Covid-19 had reached pandemic status (WHO, 2020 (A)).

With little recent historical precedent on which to base public policy, governments scrambled to develop non-pharmacological interventions aimed at reducing the spread of disease and protecting their populations. In many countries, measures included restrictions on the movement of people and the closure of public spaces and businesses. By April 3, 2020, more than 3.9 billion people across 90 countries were subject to restrictive public health measures colloquially known as 'lockdowns', including 'stay at home' orders (Sanford, 2020). At the time of writing of this report, a majority of Canadians have lived at some point under a form of government-mandated 'lockdown,' though measures are largely less restrictive or non-existent now than the 'stay at home' orders implemented at the beginning of the pandemic (CTV News, 2022)(Province of British Columbia, 2022)(Ontario Newsroom, 2022).

For people with intellectual disabilities (ID) and their supporters, the global pandemic has been an exceptionally difficult time period, even when compared to the hardships experienced by the general population. Prior to the pandemic, up to half of all people with intellectual disabilities experienced chronic loneliness (Gilmore & Cuskelly, 2014). As the pandemic began and 'lockdowns' were implemented, the sources of community and socialization that had previously provided a sense of belonging were no longer available for many people with ID. For example, due to the nature of their roles, many people with ID were not able to transition to remote work (Oakley et al., 2021). Likewise, many community centers and programs that catered to people with ID were prevented from offering full services, particularly during periods with the strongest 'lockdown' measures (Oakley et al., 2021).

In addition to the disproportionate social consequences of the pandemic, it is clear that people with ID have an increased likelihood of serious illness or death from a Covid-19 diagnosis compared to the general population (Gleason et al., 2021). Notably, people with ID have a high prevalence of pre-existing conditions that are recognized as increasing the risk of mortality from Covid-19, including hypertension, heart disease, respiratory disease, and diabetes (Turk et al., 2020). Furthermore, people with ID often face needless barriers to service access that increase the risk of adverse outcomes. For example, social distancing requirements and current procedures make accessing testing facilities particularly difficult for individuals with sensory concerns or additional support needs (Oakley et al., 2021). Additional barriers are faced by people with ID during times of resource scarcity, with triage decision making processes often designed to exclude people with ID from receiving services, either directly or indirectly (Oakley et al., 2021).

While much remains uncertain as the world moves forward, it is clear that Covid-19 will eventually become endemic within the global population and that future outbreaks of novel diseases will

inevitably occur. It is therefore critical that the public policy failures and successes of the last two years are identified, analyzed, and shared widely. This is particularly important for policies affecting marginalized population groups, including people with intellectual disabilities. Prior to Covid-19, information about the effects of pandemics on people with ID was almost non-existent. Without adequate attention, the same will be true next time. This document represents an attempt to amplify the voices of people with ID and their supporters, and to provide an overview of the existing research that has been conducted during the pandemic. If anything is clear after reading, it should be that more is needed!

Definitions

Intellectual Disability – Intellectual disabilities are one of the most common form of developmental disabilities, and are generally accepted to refer to significant cognitive limitations requiring an individual to rely on external support for daily needs and activities. For the purposes of this document, an individual is considered to have an intellectual disability if the following three criteria are met:

- 1. IQ is below 70-75
- 2. There are significant limitations in two or more adaptive areas (skills that are needed to live, work, and play in the community, such as communication or self-care)
- 3. The condition manifests itself before the age of 18

This definition follows WHO-Europe guidelines which include children with autism who have intellectual impairments as well as children who have been placed in institutions due to environmental factors such as perceived disabilities or family rejection who go on to develop an intellectual impairment (WHO-Europe, 2016)

Service Provider – Any individual or organization that provides a service or support to multiple individuals with intellectual disabilities. This category includes group home administrators, community organizations, charities, medical practitioners, government agencies, advocates and more.

Supporter – Any person who provides formal or informal assistance to an individual with an intellectual disability who is not a family member. This category includes friends, neighbors, home share providers and more.

Our Survey – Three surveys were disseminated by Special Olympics BC in Winter 2021/2022 to identify information specific to British Columbia (1. Supporters and Family Members, 2. Service Providers, 3. Individuals with Intellectual Disabilities). "Our survey of (insert respondent group)" is a reference to one of these three surveys.

The Pandemic – Unless otherwise specified, 'the pandemic' refers to the outbreak of Covid-19 from the first cases discovered in December 2019 until the drafting of this report in June 2022.

Lockdowns – Non-pharmaceutical interventions related to the Covid-19 pandemic including stay-at-home orders, curfews, quarantines and related measures.

Risk of Infection and Mortality

Due to a variety of factors including inadequate data collection, the introduction of new strains of Covid-19, and improvements in medical knowledge concerning effective treatment strategies, it can be difficult to accurately determine disparities in infection rates and mortality between individuals with ID and the general population. With that in mind, all studies identified during research for this report indicate that people with ID are both more likely to contract Covid-19 as well as to experience adverse outcomes and death as a result of infection. It is believed that factors such as a heightened prevalence of underlying health concerns (Turk et al., 2020), difficulties accessing services (Oakley et al., 2021), and the need for close contact during the provision of support are the cause of the disparities (Embregts et al., 2020). These factors are not unique to the Covid-19 pandemic as there is evidence from past outbreaks of disease, including the 2018 influenza epidemic, that point to increased mortality amongst this population (Cuypers et al., 2020).

While estimates vary, it is clear that individuals with ID are at a significantly heightened risk of contracting Covid-19 compared to the general population. In perhaps the most extensive study to explore the topic, US-based researchers' analyzed data from 547 health care organizations and found that people with ID were more than three times more likely to contract Covid-19 (3.1%) than those without ID (0.9%) (Gleason et al., 2021). Likewise, a study from Scotland identified a cohort of 17,173 individuals with ID and found that the rates of positive Covid-19 tests amongst people with ID were 2 times higher than the general population (Henderson et al., 2021). Interestingly, only 13.6% of respondents to our survey for people with ID had tested positive for Covid at some point during the pandemic, compared to almost 1/3 of the general Canadian population (Aziz, 2022). However, more research is needed to determine if this is a reflection of successful policy, or the result of disparities in access to testing or other factors.

It is believed that higher incidence rates are not due to any inherent medical or genetic aspect of intellectual disabilities. Rather, they are the result of lifestyle factors and barriers to successful preventative measures that are common for people with ID. For example, many individuals with ID require extensive support to help with daily activities which is often not possible to provide without close contact. This is particularly true for those living in congregate settings or other group living arrangements where it is common for multiple professional staff to be present (Campanella et al., 2021). Furthermore, many individuals with ID do not have a drivers' license or access to their own vehicle and are therefore reliant on shared or public transportation for their daily needs which can increase the risk of infection (Gleason et al., 2021). Lastly, many individuals with ID have sensory issues that can prevent the wearing of masks for long periods of time and leave them vulnerable to infection (Gleason et al., 2021). The presence of increased risk can be a key source of stress in the lives of those who support an individual with ID. In our survey of supporters and family members, 21.8% of respondents stated that their number one fear during the pandemic

was the individual they support being at increased risk of serious illness and mortality due to their pre-existing conditions.

In addition to being more likely to being infected, individuals with ID are far more likely to experience adverse outcomes from Covid-19 than the general population. US-based researchers found that 14.5% of individuals with ID and a diagnosis of Covid-19 were admitted to ICU, with only 6.3% of those without ID requiring ICU admittance (Gleason et al., 2021). The same study found that having an intellectual disability was the strongest independent risk factor for mortality from Covid-19 after age. A second US-based study similarly found that intellectual disabilities followed only cancer and developmental disorders in terms of mortality rates (Makary, 2020). Once again, estimates vary greatly concerning the extent to which having an ID affects mortality rates. However, there appears to be a consensus that people with ID are at least twice as likely to die from Covid-19 as the general population. Researchers in the US found that 8.2% of people with ID who contracted Covid-19 died of the disease, compared to 3.8% of those without ID (Gleason et al., 2021). A similar study analyzing data from private health insurance claims found that mortality rates for people with ID were 2.75 times higher than the general population (Makary, 2020). Studies from the UK point to a wider mortality gap than observed in the US, with independent studies identifying mortality rates that were 4.1 (6.3 if accounting for expected underreporting) (Glover, 2020) and 3.7 (Bosworth, 2021) times higher than those observed in people without ID. While more research is needed, it is believed that living in a congregate setting increases the risk of mortality from Covid-19 (Perera et al., 2020)(Landes et al., 2020).

The high rates of pre-existing conditions found in individuals with ID is a key factor in the increased risk of serious illness and mortality as a result of a Covid 19 diagnosis. In fact, many of the conditions identified in the general population as significant risk factors are far more prevalent amongst people with ID. For example, a study from the University of Maryland identified individuals with obesity, hypertension, and poorly managed diabetes as the most likely to die of Covid following hospital admission (Goodman et al., 2020). According to recent studies, people with ID are more likely to be obese and morbidly obese (Hsieh et al., 2013), and more likely to suffer from diabetes compared to the general population (Vancampfort et al., 2021). Perhaps most alarming given the respiratory nature of Covid 19 is the finding from the UK that even prior to the pandemic, respiratory disease was the number one cause of death for people with ID (O'Leary et al., 2017).

Individuals with Down syndrome are at an even greater risk of severe disease, with one study finding a four-fold increase in the need for hospitalization upon infection and a ten-fold increase in mortality (Clift et al., 2020). It is believed that the increased risk stems from the well-documented accelerated ageing processes in people with Down syndrome (Wisniewski & Pratico, 2016). It is recommended that people with Down syndrome be considered an at-risk group if they are over the age of 40, which is 20 years younger than the general population (Hüls et al., 2021). It is important to note that while it is particularly prevalent amongst people with Down syndrome, evidence shows that the risk of mortality from Covid-19 is higher at earlier ages for all people with ID. For example, one study in the UK found that mortality was 30 times higher than the general population at ages 18 to 34, 19.2 times at ages 35 to 44, 10 times at ages 45 and 64, and 6.7 times from age 65 and 74 (Glover, 2020).

Physical Health

Newly available research is beginning to help stakeholders understand the effects of Covid on mortality and hospitalization rates for people with ID, yet few studies have focused on how the pandemic has affected the overall physical health for this population. For example, no studies were identified during the drafting of this report that analyzed the effects of so-called 'long-Covid' on people with ID, even though an estimated one third of the general population experiences at least one symptom of long-Covid after infection (Taquet et al., 2021). Despite the lack of available research, it is believed that the pandemic has had a significant negative effect on the overall health of people with ID. 54.5% of respondents to our survey for supporters and family members believed that the pandemic had caused a significant deterioration in the physical health of the individual they support, while a further 12.7% believed there was a minor deterioration. In Ontario, a study of service providers reported that 33% of staff observed increased physical health concerns in their clients (Bobbette et al., 2020). Due to the effect on wellbeing, service delivery, and daily support needs, it is important that these knowledge gaps be closed as our society learns to live in a world where Covid is endemic. Enhanced knowledge about long-Covid is particularly critical given that many symptoms identified in the general population, such as fatigue, insomnia, and "brain fog" (NHS Choices, 2022), will have a considerable influence on the daily support needs of individuals with ID.

There is an increasing body of evidence emerging that indicates rates of physical activity were substantially impacted by the pandemic, particularly so during lockdowns. In the UK, 61% of parents of children with ID reported reduced rates of physical activity during lockdowns (Theis et al., 2021). Similarly, researchers in China found that in April 2020 (during a strict lockdown), children with ID engaged in only 10 minutes of moderate to vigorous physical activity per day (Yuan et al., 2021). For reference, a previous study conducted shortly before the pandemic found that the average child with ID engaged in 31.7 minutes of moderate to vigorous physical activity daily (Liu et al., 2020). Notably, the UK study also found that during lockdowns, rates of vigorous physical activity saw a greater decline than light and moderate physical activity (48% v. 38%)(Theis et al., 2021). Our survey for people with ID appears to confirm the results found elsewhere, as 67.8% of respondents stated that they had reduced their rate of physical activity during lockdowns, while 27.3% stopped being active almost entirely. Likewise, our survey for supporters and family members suggested that 69.1% of individuals with ID were less active than they were pre-pandemic.

Early in the pandemic, service providers correctly noted that many people with ID would lose access to their usual sources of physical activity during lockdowns, and were quickly able to adapt their services to promote physical activity at home and online during the pandemic. However, the results of our survey for people with ID have shown that online and home workout supports were ineffective for much of the population. For example, only 36.3% of respondents had participated in an online workout or exercise program during lockdown periods, with many individuals commenting that the workouts they were offered did not meet their personal support needs. Further research in this area is needed to shed light on the barriers faced by people with ID in accessing online or home based physical activity supports as well as potential methods of encouraging more moderate to vigorous physical activities in residential settings. It is also worth noting that the physical and mental health of caregivers and supporters can have a substantial effect on the capacity for an individual with ID to engage in physical activity. For example, one

respondent to our survey for people with ID reported a significant reduction in their own physical health following the decline of the mental health of their home share provider. To increase effectiveness, future interventions designed to provide online and home-based supports for physical activity should actively consider the roles of supporters and caregivers in the process.

Sexual Health

People with ID of all ages have the same sexual desires as the general population, including the desire to enter romantic relationships and marriages (Healy, et al., 2009). Yet little is known about how the pandemic impacted people with ID in terms of their sexuality and desires to form relationships. Historically, studies have shown that due, in part, to conservative caregiver and parental attitudes towards sexuality (Tamas et al., 2019), people with ID are often required to develop their sexuality and form relationships within a restricted framework (Frawley & Wilson, 2016). Due to the isolation and limitations on movement that many people with ID experienced during lockdowns, it is expected that developing relationships and engaging in sexual activities became more difficult. However, more research is needed to confirm this hypothesis. In the one study to explore the area extensively, researchers in Spain found that sexual appetite increased in 38% of individuals with ID, possibly due to the lack of actual opportunities to carry out sexual practices (Gil-Llario et al., 2021). The same study found that many people with ID responded by increasing their frequency of online sexual activity, with 88% of sending nude images of themselves and 83.6% viewing pornography (Gil-Llario et al., 2021). As many individuals with ID haven't received the necessary training and education to manage the risks of online sexual activity (Gómez-Puerta & Chiner, 2021), the risk of abuse or misuse is high. Sadly, results from the Spanish study show that the sexual victimization of people with ID is a trend that continued during lockdown. An alarming 6.7% of participants in the study reported being sexually forced, while 19.2% acknowledged having forced themselves on another person (Gil-Llario et al., 2021).

Mental Health

The Covid-19 pandemic has had a substantial impact on the mental health of Canadians of all backgrounds and abilities, the effects of which will likely not be fully understood for years to come. For people with ID, there is a particularly pressing need for research and evidence-based interventions given the alarming rates of mental health concerns and psychiatric disorders that were identified in the population prior to the pandemic and its associated restrictions (Morgan, et al., 2008)(Cooper, et al., 2015). Pre-pandemic studies had identified an increased prevalence of, inter alia, depression (Morin, et al., 2010)(Hermans et al., 2013), dementia (Strydom, et al., 2009)(Shooshtari, 2017), anxiety (Reid, et al., 2011)(Cooray & Bakala, 2005)(Hsieh et al., 2020) and aggressive behavior (Crocker, et al., 2014)(van den Bogaard et al., 2017) amongst the population. In one of the most extensive studies to explore the topic in Canada prior to the Covid-

19 pandemic, researchers in Ontario found that over a two-year period, 44% of adults with ID had a mental illness diagnosis (Lin, et al., 2016).

When asked about the lasting impact of the pandemic on people with ID, respondents to our survey for service providers frequently referenced social withdrawal and isolation. Several noted that, despite programs and services returning to pre-pandemic levels, participation rates were far lower than seen previously. Similar comments were left by family members and supporters, for example, one parent found that their son "became quite used to not doing anything and started saying no to invites to go out". Likewise, many individuals with ID who responded to our survey reported struggles with isolation, particularly during the lockdown stages of the pandemic. "I survived, but I am getting to the stage where not getting hugged and kissed is really hard. Zoom's great, but, one thing I realized is that I'm more extroverted than I thought I was" commented one young SOBC athlete. To date, few studies have explored in-depth the effects of the pandemic and associated restrictions on isolation and loneliness for people with ID (Lunsky et al., 2022)(Schormans et al., 2020). However, due to the loss of daily structure and routine that resulted from the pandemic (Scheffers et al., 2021), it is expected that pre-pandemic levels of isolation increased amongst the population. An analysis of five studies conducted in 2016 found an average prevalence of loneliness amongst people with ID of 44.74% (Alexandra et al., 2018), which compares to only 10.5% in the general population (Beutel et al., 2017). For many people with ID, social isolation begins at childhood, with studies finding that children with ID and ASD report fewer friends and a lower quality of friendships than their typically developing peers (Taheri et al., 2016).

There is considerably more evidence of the effects of the pandemic on anxiety and depression levels for people with ID. In Spain, 60% of people with ID reported feeling more afraid or more anxious (Amor et al., 2021). The same study found that the living context was closely associated with expressions of anxiety, with people living in organizational housing experiencing higher rates than those living independently or with family. In Poland, female students were found to be at a heightened risk of anxiety and depression during lockdown, with more than one third experiencing at least mild symptoms (Gacek & Krzywoszanski, 2021). Of their male counterparts, 20% met clinical criteria for depression, while 15% met criteria for anxiety. Studies indicate that a key source of anxiety during the pandemic was an inability to understand information about Covid-19 and the reasons for lockdowns (Amor et al., 2021)(Embregts et al., 2020), which highlights the importance of ensuring information is presented in plain language and in accessible formats. As one Special Olympics athlete noted, "the scariness of not knowing what was going on was very hard, (sic) hard to sort through misinformation." Based on recent studies, it is highly likely that staff supporting people with ID utilized therapeutic untruths (deception perceived to be in the individuals' best interest) to manage anxiety amongst people with ID, although more research is needed to determine the impact of the technique (McKenzie et al., 2020).

Overall, it appears that the pandemic has had an overwhelming negative effect on the mental health of people with ID in BC. Of respondents to our survey for people with ID, 63.6% reported their mental health to be 'worse than normal', with 13.6% reporting that it was 'way worse than normal'. Similarly, 83.6% of respondents to our survey for family members and supporters indicated that the mental health of the individual they support deteriorated during lockdowns, with 21.8% noting a significant deterioration. This is consistent with research findings from the UK, where 90% of parents reported a negative impact on mental health of their child, with 42% rating the mental as "much worse" than prior to lockdowns (Theis et al., 2021).

Covid-19 and People with Intellectual Disabilities in British Columbia

While more research is needed to determine the effects of declining mental health on pharmacology in Canada, in the UK, doctors are seeing a rise in requests for psychotropic medications (Courtenay, 2020), with hypnotics and benzodiazepines being the most commonly prescribed (Naqvi et al., 2021). Notably, UK-based researchers have found a greater increase in the prescribing of psychotropic medications in urban settings compared to rural communities, suggesting that the intensity of pandemic restrictions may be a key contributor (Naqvi et al., 2021). The importance of analyzing the effects of the pandemic on rates of pharmacology in the Canadian context cannot be understated due to the high rates of prescriptions present prior to Covid-19. In 2013, researchers in Ontario found that 50% of individuals with ID were dispensed multiple medications concurrently, with 22% being dispensed five or more (Lunsky, et al., 2013).

The following quotes come from respondents to our survey for people with ID and participants of an informal dialogue session hosted by Special Olympics BC, and do not necessarily reflect the opinions of Special Olympics BC. With that in mind, they provide meaningful insight into the mindset and outlook of people with ID in BC during the pandemic:

"We're all in this together got old, real fast." (comment made in the context of discussions about dismissive attitudes towards the mental health of people with ID)

"I was also terrified, especially when taking the bus.....before I heard that if one person gets sick, the whole bus gets sick."

"There has been lots of hatred in the world, so that kind of frightens people."

"Once I was able to see my friends for the first time.....it was quite awesome, but overwhelming. I started crying......When my support worker was able to come, that made a big difference."

"When we met in person, we had to wear masks. It is hard to know when someone is sad or nervous or happy."

"What I've learned throughout is to never take anything for granted, because we never know what we will miss until we don't have it anymore."

"I think there's hope for the future, I'm more cautious than ever because Covid's had a big effect on my life. My mom had Covid, and I unfortunately lost my partner to Covid as well."

"I'm optimistic for the future, I think it's been really encouraging to see how many Canadians have already got double-vaccinated and people who aren't are on their way to doing that. I think people are a little more upbeat and encouraged by the progress we've made. It might be a new normal.....but I think moving forward I definitely have a lot of hope and I think the future is gonna look promising for all of us."

"I'm hearing about SOBC programs opening to some extent, it's promising...but I have a hard time being optimistic all the time too, because I'm on social media a lot. I've been paying very close attention to what's going on......Every time I hear about hospitals being overwhelmed and moving patients around it makes me nervous. It makes me not want to visit hospitals."

Barriers to Accessing Health Care

The mere presence of a healthcare service is insufficient to ensure that people with ID are able to achieve the intended benefits. Differences in support needs and communication styles (Doherty et al., 2020), as well as other factors such as negative attitudes towards the population (Hemm, et al., 2015)(Ali et al., 2013)(Pelleboer-Gunnink et al., 2017), and a lack of participation in decision making processes (Doherty et al., 2020)(Oakley et al., 2021) can produce additional access barriers for people with ID. These barriers are particularly pronounced for services that are considered mainstream, or designed primarily with the general population in mind, can result in negative experiences for people with ID (Taggart et al., 2007)(Donner et al., 2010)(Pelleboer-Gunnink et al., 2017). Throughout the pandemic, many of the specialized services on which people with ID depended were closed or restricted due to government-imposed regulations (Jeste et al., 2020)(SOBC, 2022). Furthermore, few of the services introduced to provide Covid testing, vaccination, and treatment included specialized pathways for people with ID (Province of BC, 2022)(SOBC, 2022). This left service providers, supporters, and people with ID to identify and advocate for reasonable adjustments to services to facilitate access and better health outcomes (Campanella et al., 2021)(Waddington & Robbins, 2021).

Healthcare service providers across Canada worked tirelessly to adapt to the ever-changing environment that arose from the pandemic. Respondents to our survey for service providers reported extensive efforts to ensure that the risk of infection was low enough to provide access for their clients with ID. Examples included increased cleaning/sanitation, measures to avoid congestion in common areas, limiting the number of caregivers allowed to attend, diverting patients to smaller clinics, and the use of videoconferencing to allow the participation of additional specialists. NGO's, community groups, and research institutions supplemented the work of service providers by creating resources aimed at educating practitioners about the needs of people with ID, and helping people with ID and their supporters feel more comfortable accessing services. For instance, the HCARDD program based in Ontario created blog posts highlighting the experiences of people with ID as they got vaccinated (H-CARDD, 2021). Blog posts included advice for people with ID who had not yet received their first dose as well as information to assist service providers to make reasonable adjustments to their practices. Another example is a social story created by Surrey Place, which included pictures and simple language descriptions guiding readers through the process of becoming vaccinated (Surrey Place, 2022). Based on the results of our survey for supporters and family members, these measures were generally effective for the majority of people with ID. When asked, 63.7% of respondents stated that reasonable adjustments to medical services were made most or all of the time, while a further 21.8% found them they were made sometimes.

Due to the lack of available research, the extent to which people with ID in BC lost access to medical services during the pandemic is unclear. However, anecdotal evidence from our survey for supporters and family members suggest that many did lose access and the results were highly detrimental. For example, one parent reported that her daughter with ID was unable to see her dietician for her seizure diet, and that the frequency of seizures and associated health issues increased as a result. Several other respondents noted how the pandemic highlighted the lack of available mental health services for people with ID in BC, however, many also expressed optimism that these services will be improved in the near future. A few international studies have explored the topic and found that individuals with ID lost access to medical services at alarming

rates. For example, a US based study that was open to caregivers of people with ID globally found that 36% of respondents lost access to at least one service (Jeste et al., 2020). During the reporting period, 67% of respondents in the USA and 53% outside of the USA were able to meet with at least one provider through telemedicine, with the most commonly accessed providers through telemedicine being neurologists and general practitioners. The same study reported that many of the most common priorities of caregivers during restrictions concerned the provision of medication, including larger supplies, reminders to renew prescriptions, assistance and monitoring of new medications, in home medication administration, and home delivery services.

A critical component of service access during a health crisis is successful communication between all stakeholders involved. The effects of a failure to successfully communicate were visible in communities across the country, including in Saskatchewan where some individuals with ID were so confused by public health messaging that they decided to stay home entirely, in some cases forgoing daily necessities such as groceries (Vescera, 2020). Young people with ID in particular have been found to perceive greater difficulty in understanding information about Covid, with a Spanish study finding that 25% found it difficult to understand the reasons for lockdown (Amor, et al., 2021). Here in BC, only 4.5% of respondents to our survey for people with ID were unable to find information about Covid in plain language, which speaks to the dedication and attention to detail of service providers during the crisis. However, this did not necessarily translate into high rates of Covid health literacy as 56.5% of respondents reported difficulties understanding what information was fake or wrong. Notably, 43.5% of respondents primarily received their information on Covid from family and friends, while 21.7% got it from the news, 8.7% from service providers or supporters, and 4.3% from social media. This suggests that future interventions need to consider targeting the support networks of people with ID, particularly where literacy skills of the supported individual are limited (Courtenay & Perera, 2020).

Testing for Covid formed a large portion of many governments' strategies to contain outbreaks and allocate health care resources during the pandemic (NIH Leadership, 2020)(US Department of Health and Human Services, 2022). Here in BC, testing strategies primarily involved the establishment of temporary facilities offering PCR tests on-site (Buffam, 2021) until at-home rapid antigen tests became more widely available later in the pandemic (Ministry of Health, 2022). This strategy involved invasive nasal or throat swabs and often required people to travel to unfamiliar locations (BC Center for Disease Control, 2022). Given that many people with ID have sensory sensitivities and difficulties adapting to changes in routine (Tomchek & Dunn, 2007)(Uljarević et al., 2017), additional support and reasonable adjustments to practices were needed to ensure access. Evidence from elsewhere suggests that high-quality preparatory materials such as social stories and other plain language information are particularly effective in reducing access barriers to testing (Oakley et al., 2021). Of the 43.5% of respondents to our survey for people with ID who had to take a test for Covid during the pandemic, only 34.8% felt that the service provider was able to explain how it would work and the reasons for it. These results are comparable to those of Autism Europe, who found that 24.5% of those who accessed a test were unsure if they had received adequate information about test procedures, and only 38.6% were provided with condition-specific reasonable adjustments (Oakley et al., 2021).

Little is known about the rates of diagnostic overshadowing experienced by people with ID during the pandemic, however, it is likely that it forms a significant barrier to effective service access for the population (Brown, 2020). Diagnostic overshadowing occurs when a medical professional attributes an individual's symptoms or complaint to their intellectual disability or co-occurring

mental health diagnosis without fully exploring the actual cause (Reiss, et al., 1982). For example, the deterioration of an individuals' mental health resulting from the effects of a Covid infection may be falsely attributed to a relapse of a previously-diagnosed mental health concern due to the associated restrictions that accompany a Covid diagnosis. It is important that practitioners are reminded that people with ID may present different symptoms from a Covid infection than those presented by members of the general population (Alexander et al., 2020). Supporters and family members can assist by creating a Covid care plan for the individual with ID in their care that includes information relevant to diagnostic overshadowing can help to ensure that an accurate diagnosis is made (Alexander et al., 2020).

Supporters and Family Members

"I missed my friends, my staff, and my sports... My caregiver (supporter) saved me." This quote from our survey for people with ID highlights the extent to which the Covid-19 pandemic increased or altered the role of supporters and family members of people with ID. Supports that were previously provided by service providers such as cleaning, cooking, recreation, and transportation were often not available or practical, thereby leaving supporters and family members to fill in the gaps (Rogers et al., 2021)(Redquest et al., 2020). Of respondents to our survey for supporters and family members, 87.3% needed to spend more time to meet the needs of the individual they supported during lockdowns, with 47.3% needing to spend significantly more time than they did prior to the pandemic. As one family member noted, "supports were typically only outside the home (cooking, cleaning, etc.) were not done by support but by me and at times it became overwhelming." Others found that the availability of supports could often change with little notice, leaving them to feel as if they were "on call all of the time".

For some households, supports were available but family members and supporters chose not to utilize them due to decisions on acceptable risk levels, not just for the individual with ID, but also for others in the household that may be immunocompromised or otherwise at an increased risk of serious illness or death. Of respondents, 70.9% lived with at least two other people, while 14.5% lived with four or more other people. This often led to the avoidance of supports such as public transit, thereby resulting in an increased reliance on family members or supporters for alternate supports. In perhaps the most extensive study to explore the topic, researchers in Spain found that 81.4% of families believed that their adaptation to increased support needs was either good or very good (Navas et al., 2021). However, there was a direct positive correlation between the perceived strength of their adaptation, and the intensity of their relative's support needs.

Many family members and supporters took extensive measures to help the supported individual through the hardships associated with lockdowns and pandemic restrictions. To keep the individual safe, the vast majority of respondents to our surveys indicated that they closely followed public health orders, including "getting vaccinated, limiting exposure and continuing to wear masks in public." To increase quality of life, many respondents focused on increasing the ability of the supported individual to engage in online programs and home entertainment, as well

as trying to find outdoor activities. "We set up lots of online programs, bought her an iPad so she could watch preferred shows online, had her do one daily activity, gave her a weekly schedule to look forward to, called family more often, took her out for drive thru treat and participated in some light chores at home to help maintain her space." For some, this involved making substantial sacrifices; "having to quit my job and be with him to fill in that gap and keep his mental health at a safe level was challenging. My job is to stay strong and support – so that is what I did."

In addition to experiencing hardship associated with heightened support needs, many family members and supporters found themselves increasingly concerned for the wellbeing of the individual they support. The most common concerns for family members and supporters who responded to our survey included the mental health of the individual they support (29.1%), access to services on which the individual depend (21.8%), and pre-exiting conditions placing the individual at higher risk of serious illness or death (21.8%). Many respondents left additional comments indicating that the social isolation experienced by the individual they support was particularly worrying. These results are in line with international findings which have found similar concerns expressed by parents (Navas et al., 2021)(Neece et al., 2020)(Asbury et al., 2020)(Kim et al., 2021)(Cacioppo et al., 2021)(Greenway & Eaton-Thomas, 2020)(Paulauskaite et al., 2021), siblings (Redquest et al., 2020), and caregivers alike (Grumi et al., 2020)(Lightfoot et al., 2021).

Given the increased support needs, concern for the wellbeing of the supported individual and personal hardships stemming from the pandemic, it is not surprising that studies consistently point to worsening mental health outcomes for family members and supporters (Asbury et al., 2020)(Grumi et al., 2020)(Masi et al., 2021). For example, a study from the UK found that moderate to severe levels of anxiety were reported by 43% of parents of children with ID compared to only 8% in parents of children without ID (Willner et al., 2020). The same study found a prevalence of moderate to severe depression of 45% in parents of children with ID compared to only 11% of parents of children without ID. Likewise, a study in Spain found that 66.3% of family members experienced increased levels of stress and anxiety with rates rising to 73.9% for those whose child or relative had extensive support needs (Navas et al., 2021). Family members and supporters of individuals displaying a high frequency of challenging behaviours have been found to experience particularly high rates of mental health concerns (Chen et al., 2020), in part due to a decrease in social support stemming from the challenging behaviour itself (Willner et al., 2020). Notably, our survey for family members and supporters found that 60% of supported individuals exhibited more frequently challenging behaviour during lockdowns. In the words of one respondent, "the stress level in our home was overwhelming due to our person's outbursts, mental health and overall unhappiness."

Evidence from our surveys in BC appear to confirm international results pointing to increased stress and mental health concerns arising from the pandemic. Of respondents to our survey for family members and supporters, 56.4% said lockdowns caused minor deterioration in their mental health with a further 16.4% finding that it caused a significant deterioration. While international research highlights concerns for the supported individual's wellbeing and increased support needs as key contributors to the decline in family member and support mental health, research is needed to determine the relationship between finance and mental health. An alarming 35.1% of respondents to our survey for family members and supporters indicated that they experienced financial strain as a result of the lockdowns which undoubtedly had an effect

on overall wellbeing. Similarly, research is needed to further explore the effects of family member and supporter physical health on their overall wellbeing. Of respondents to our survey, 67.2% engaged in slightly less exercise during lockdowns while 61.8% noted a decline in their overall physical health.

Anecdotal evidence appears to show that the effects of lockdowns and pandemic restrictions on family cohesion appear to be determined, in large part, by the living situation of the supported individual. Many respondents to our survey for family members and supporters spoke of the positive benefits experienced by those living together. For example, several respondents left comments discussing the role lockdowns played in developing family relationships and support systems. In the words of one family member, "It brought me closer to the individual I supported. It gave me a clearer understanding of what can be improved on going forward". For another respondent, the lockdowns increased their perceived capacity to support their family member with ID; "I am stronger than I realize and that I have gained increased confidence in trusting what I know to be best for both of us." These comments were starkly different from those left by family members and supporters of individuals living in group homes and other communal living situations. In these situations, family members and supporters were often unable to visit the supported individual for extended periods of time due to restrictions on visitation. According to one respondent, "as my family member lives in home share in community. Due to lockdown I was not able to visit my family member for almost 10 months." While perhaps necessary to ensure the safety of those living in communal arrangements, such restrictions added to the stress and anxiety experienced by many family members and supporters.

Due to the critical role family members and supporters play in the lives of people with ID, it is important that they are supported by government, medical practitioners and community organizations, particularly during challenging times such as the Covid-19 pandemic. According to our survey, 41.8% of family members and supporters got sufficient support from government, 65.4% got sufficient support from medical practitioners, and 34.6% got sufficient support from community organizations. Although, it should be noted that government and medical supports were more likely than community organizations to be continuously available throughout the pandemic due to the nature of the restrictions in place. While more research is needed to identify gaps in the current support system in BC, researchers in Spain found that when increased support was requested by family, 49% of cases mentioned the need for reconciliation/respite support, 45.8% mentioned emotional support, 14.6% mentioned specific training to care for their relative, and 9.4% mentioned the need for financial support (Navas et al., 2021).

The following quotes come from respondents to our survey for family members and supporters, and do not necessarily reflect the opinions of Special Olympics BC. With that in mind, they provide meaningful insight into potential reforms and the perspectives of a key stakeholder group:

"The lockdowns allowed me to note the shortcomings of organizations and systems whose purpose it is to assist persons with intellectual disabilities. Notably, in three areas: 1. Lack of sufficient support in physical activity. 2. Lack of promoting healthy nutritional options for the intellectually or physically disabled within the organizations. 3. Lack of services promoting intellectual stimulation."

"It made me realize how unprepared we are for our children's future without us. I thought we were prepared. We need to have key people they can call on."

"I think mentally affected adults in a home with only 2 people, should not be restricted as much as senior residential care homes with hundreds of patients. They got swept up into that category. There needs to be a separate category of information for smaller care situations. Allowing parents to be with their autistic kids is important."

"Services could have been provided by a walk outdoors... that appeared never to be the answer... Our ID guy hated zoom calls..and he became easily frustrated."

"Since we all had to isolate this is a difficult situation. I did think there could have been more attempt to send out craft projects for the individuals. Home projects like building a bird house or cooking projects."

"Continued with flexibility in use of support funding. (The pandemic did not end September 30, 2021 despite what [service provider] thinks.)"

"Honestly, I can't think of anything else other than making Special Olympics, CAN and other like services that support adult with special needs to be considered essential."

Service Providers

Many organizations that serve people with ID were placed in an immensely difficult position during the pandemic. With limited experience or best-practices to follow, organizations were forced to strike a balance between reducing the risk of infection for a medically vulnerable population (Gleason et al., 2021), and ensuring the ongoing provision of daily support and vocational needs to their clients. To compound matters, 83.6% of respondents to our survey for service providers found that the needs of individuals they support changed because of the pandemic. For example, one respondent noted that individuals they support required far more time and assistance due to mental health concerns. Another found that many of their clients were uncomfortable obtaining services at designated centers, while also hesitant about receiving services through home visits. Adapting services to meet these new requirements and needs required creativity, dedication, and effective communication between stakeholders. This was particularly true during early stages of the pandemic when inconsistent public health responses and messaging led many organizations to make their own decisions (Kavanagh et al., 2021).

Difficulties in service delivery were further magnified by the rapidly changing financial environment that resulted from the pandemic. Of respondents to our survey for service providers, only half qualified for new government financial supports related to the pandemic, while 27.6% saw a reduction in funding from non-governmental sources. The result was that 16.7% of organizations had programs that were affected by financial strain, and an additional 11.1% experienced financial strain but were able to limit its effect on programs. However, only one respondent organization observed a corresponding reduction in the amount of clients they

needed to support. In fact, the vast majority (72.2%) saw little to no change, while 11.1% reported seeing a drastic increase in those seeking their services.

Additional complications for service providers came from government-imposed health restrictions which forced half of respondent organizations to substantially alter their services, while 33.3% needed to cease some or all services entirely at times. Yet, despite the difficulties, the results of our surveys highlight the remarkable efforts made by service providers to continue supporting their clients. Of respondent service providers, 72.2% implemented a new or modified service during the pandemic, many of which were web-based. Examples include increased availability of virtual mental health supports, the creation of online learning platforms, and efforts to establish social connections online to combat isolation and loneliness. It is generally agreed that this enhanced focus on virtual supports can be beneficial moving forward due to the increased capabilities, flexibility, and responsiveness that they provide, but also that such supports are unable to meet the needs of all individuals with ID and cannot be a replacement for in-person services (Zaagsma et al., 2020)(Scheffers et al., 2021)(Araten-Bergman & Shpigelman, 2021)(Embregts et al., 2021). As one respondent to our survey for service providers noted, reviews, meetings, and specialist appointments taking place only on zoom "left many gaps in the process". Furthermore, there may be increased risks associated with online supports including difficulties determining the reliability of assessments, and ensuring confidentiality is maintained (Scheffers et al., 2021)(Courtenay & Perera, 2020). It is therefore critical that service providers increasingly offer staff training on the safe and effective use of online supports as the use of such supports will inevitably remain beyond the pandemic.

The importance of supporting service providers during a public health crisis such as the Covid-19 pandemic cannot be underestimated. Not only do they provide invaluable services that many people with ID depend on, but they are often key stakeholders on which government efforts depend. For example, a 2021 report by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services found that the commonality between states with the most comprehensive data, infection response, and prevention strategies for people with ID was the cultivation of partnerships across all stakeholder groups (Plourde et al., 2021). In BC, respondents to our survey for service providers were largely positive when asked about the supports they were offered by government sources. Commonly accessed supports included various CLBC programs, federal financial supplements for wages, Health Authority and Ministry of Health guidelines and communications, and supports related to personal protective equipment and rapid testing. To further enhance government supports during future public health emergencies, many respondents suggested that it is necessary to enhance the role of people with ID in the policy-making process.

The need to improve supports for staff who work for organizations supporting people with ID became increasingly clear as the pandemic progressed. In addition to their existing roles and responsibilities, many staff supporting people with ID experienced exceptional pressure to serve in roles for which they may have had little to no training (Trip et al., 2022). For example, staff were often required to participate in the development and implementation of infection prevention strategies, despite an estimated 22% not having been trained to do so by June 2020 (Kavanagh et al., 2021). Given that many individuals with ID face difficulties following and understanding the importance of such strategies, many staff experienced significant hardship as a result (Lunsky et al., 2021). Likewise, additional burdens for staff arose through the expectations from family members that they be proactive in facilitating communication through online platforms even though 70% of family members had never used such platforms in this manner prior to the

pandemic (Trip et al., 2022). Enhanced training in these areas will facilitate improved service delivery and reduce the burdens and associated stress experienced by staff supporting people with ID.

Research has long shown that staff who serve people with ID experience heightened levels of stress and burnout compared to the general population (Ryan et al., 2019)(Mitchell & Hastings, 2001)(Jenkins et al., 1997). During the pandemic, these disparities became even more pronounced: a study of mental health workers supporting Canadians with ID found that one in four reported moderate to severe levels of clinical distress, while 34% met requirements for anxiety and 22% for depression (Lunsky et al., 2021). Similarly, an Irish study found heightened levels of anxiety and depression across various sectors supporting people with ID, and that levels were highest for those who supported individuals displaying challenging behaviors (McMahon et al., 2020). Notably, 62% of staff serving people with ID in Ontario found that their clients were more aggressive during the pandemic which likely contributed to 69% of staff reporting more stress at work (Bobbette et al., 2020). Additional stressors for staff supporting people with ID during the pandemic included the fear of infection, concerns over the availability of effective PPE, a sense of responsibility towards the vulnerable population they serve (Embregts et al., 2020), and financial uncertainty. For example, one respondent to our survey for service providers indicated that their entire organization took a 20% reduction in pay during the early stages of the pandemic. While more research is needed to determine the effects of worker stress and burnout on the workforce in Canada, studies from Europe have shown that these factors can result in staffing issues due to increased illness, absenteeism, and staff departures (Bignal & Cassani, 2020).

With little evidence for best practices and a lack of experience in public health emergencies, many organizations were forced to rapidly develop strategies to support staff during the pandemic. Results from our survey for service providers suggest that employers in the sector strove to take an empathetic and flexible approach towards their staff, particularly during lockdown stages. Many indicated that they allowed staff to work from home whenever possible, and provided significant training to increase their capacity to use online communications platforms. These efforts were often coupled with additional news updates, team meetings, and reporting to make up for the lack of face-to-face contact. Service providers also commonly reported the extensive efforts they took to reduce the risk of infection for their staff. Strategies included providing personal protective equipment, increasing the ability to socially distance in the workplace where possible, and implementing vaccine mandates for those accessing services. Further analysis is needed to determine the effectiveness of service provider supports and their relationship to employee wellbeing and retention.

Triage Protocols

The Covid-19 pandemic has placed policy makers and health care providers in an immensely difficult situation. Not only are they responsible for preventing the spread of a novel and deadly disease, but they are also forced to make decisions about who gets access to potentially lifesaving treatment during times of resource scarcity. Fortunately, as of the time of writing, BC has not

needed to implement its triage policy to deal with Covid-19 caseloads beyond restrictions related to PCR testing (Watson & Kulkarni, 2021). However, at various stages in the pandemic, health care systems around the world experienced shortages of staff, medications, hospital beds, and medical devices that resulted in a failure to provide care for all patients in need. The neighboring province of Alberta, for example, experienced a shortage of life-saving ventilators as recently as September, 2021 (Bennett, 2021). Likewise, the province of Saskatchewan came within a few patients of needing to restrict access to critical care in October, 2021 (CTV News, 2021). With this in mind, it's important to understand the process by which decisions about resource allocation are made to ensure that people with ID are not excluded from treatment as a result of their disability.

Despite public calls for clarification from the Disability Alliance BC (Robb & Pritchard, 2020), it remains unclear if BC has adequate protections in place to avoid discrimination against people with ID if triage protocols are implemented. The BC Centre for Disease Control released a document in December, 2020 titled 'COVID-19 Ethical Decision-Making Framework', which does explicitly state that disability should not be used as exclusionary criteria (Ministry of Health, 2020). Likewise, the federal government released its own ethics framework concerning public health during the Covid-19 pandemic which also contains specific reference to disability (PHAC, 2021). However, both documents are designed only to be tools to help policy-makers develop triage protocols, and do not contain any binding or enforceable provisions. It is also not known publicly if medical professionals and administrators have received sufficient training and education to implement triage protocols without discrimination. The dangers of insufficient training and education were recently illustrated in the UK where GP's mistakenly sent letters to group homes stating that people with ID were unlikely to be prioritised for mechanical ventilation, directly contravening policy guidance issued by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence in the process (Thomas, 2020).

Policies which have the potential to discriminate against people with ID in decisions about resource allocation are alarmingly common. One recent study from the US analysed the 'healthcare rationing policies' in 30 states, and found that all but five had provisions that could harm people with disabilities (Whyte, 2022). In other jurisdictions, discrimination against people with ID is explicitly stated in the text of triage guidance or protocols. For example, the Working Group of Bioethics of the Spanish Society of Intensive, Critical Medicine and Coronary Units published triage guidance that explicitly specifies "severe baseline cognitive impairment" as a justification for exclusion (Oakley et al., 2021) (La Sociedad Científica Española de Enfermería, 2020). Elsewhere, discrimination is more discreet but nonetheless still present. Such is the case in Saskatchewan, where the provincial health authority has listed an individual's 'social role' as criteria in a tie-breaker situation (Saskatchewan Health Authority, 2020). While it is incorrect to assume that an individual with ID plays a less significant 'social role' than their peers in the general population, studies have shown that professional attitudes towards the population are mixed (Jones et al., 2008), potentially leading to biased decision-making.

A particular area of concern is the use of frailty indicators in triage protocols, which is widespread throughout the western world (Oakley et al., 2021). Initially designed to assess frailty in elderly people, frailty indicators measure the extent to which an individual is dependent upon others for daily support needs and their likelihood of survival of their current illness (Rockwood, 2005). Due to the nature of their disability, many people with ID require such assistance throughout their lifespan regardless of their overall health status or likelihood of adverse outcomes from a given

illness (Verdugo et al., 2020). Furthermore, people with ID are more likely to require such support at earlier ages when compared to the general population. If assessed using standard frailty indicators, a typical individual with ID will experience frailty at age 50 that is comparable to a member of the general population at age 80 (Oullette-Kunz & Martin, 2014). For these reasons, there was significant backlash in the UK after the National Institute of Health and Care Excellence published guidelines recommending the use of frailty indicators (Kleinman, 2020). The guidelines were quickly revised to clarify that frailty indicators should not be used for young people or people with ID (NICE, 2022). It is important that policy makers in BC publicly state whether frailty indicators are recommended in the current triage protocols, and if they are, set clear guidelines concerning their applicability to people with ID.

Vaccines

Due to the increased likelihood of severe illness and mortality from Covid-19, coupled with an increased risk of contracting Covid-19 (Gleason et al., 2021), it is critically important that people with ID are vaccinated. Yet much like the general population, many people with ID struggle to navigate the plethora of misinformation concerning vaccination that is available online and is present in public discourse. According to recent studies, people with ID are generally more willing to receive a Covid-19 vaccine than the general population. In New York State, a survey found that approximately 75% of people with ID intended to get a vaccine when it was made available to them (ladarola et al., 2022). Likewise, in the UK researchers found that 87.1% of supporters of individuals with ID indicated that the person in their care was willing to get a vaccine. The same study found that vaccine intent was associated with white ethnicity, having a pre-existing condition that can result in adverse outcomes from Covid-19, having had a flu vaccine, having known someone who died from Covid-19, and having had to isolate during the pandemic (Hatton et al., 2021). For comparison, a study analyzing vaccine hesitancy across 11 countries found that only 60.1% of adults in the general population stated that they would willingly get vaccinated (Kukreti et al., 2022). However, it is important to note that there can be wide discrepancies in rates of vaccine hesitancy between regions. For example, in our survey of people with ID, 13.6% of respondents stated that they were "very hesitant", and a further 27.3% reported being hesitant, but "only a little". Reasons for hesitancy provided by respondents ranged from fear of pain during the procedure, to concerns about side-effects for people with pre-existing heart conditions. Vaccine hesitancy amongst respondents to our survey for caregivers was likewise inconsistent with the findings of international studies. Only 7.3% of respondents disagreed that available vaccines are safe and effective for the individual they support. For this reason, it is important to study the effects of vaccine hesitancy on people with ID in British Columbian communities

The following three quotes come from Special Olympics BC athletes, all of whom have received considerable health education and training through various SOBC programs. They illustrate the reasoning of some individuals with ID who were hesitant prior to being vaccinated. It is important to note that all three eventually accepted vaccination after receiving information directly from experts whom they trusted.

"When I got my shot for the first time, I didn't know what to expect and I didn't know what the side effects will be. That was my concern before I got mine. I had to ask my doctor, I had to ask everyone what their thoughts were in the health care area."

"I admit at first I fell for some of the anti-vaccine talk. 'Oh you don't know what's in it'..... I kind of fell for the like, 'everybody is making a big deal out of nothing'...... That was before I came around."

"There's a big divide that's happened, there's the ones that are all 'get the vaccine, protect one another' and then there's the ones that 'this is a big scamdemic, the vaccine is a big conspiracy, new divide, new world order'....and it's gotten nasty....and um, I'm divided. Mixed feelings."

Efforts to educate about the benefits and processes of vaccination need to extend beyond people with ID to their families, supporters, and caregivers. Many people with ID have limited health literacy, and therefor depend on others for access to health care (Geukes et al., 2018). Furthermore, given the need for close proximity in the provision of many daily support needs, the vaccination of caregivers is particularly important to protect individuals with ID. In a study of professional staff working with people with ID in Canada, 62% of said they were very likely to get a vaccine, 20% said they were likely, while 18% stated they were unlikely to get a vaccine (Lunsky et al., 2021). It is also critical that health education concerning vaccination considers the unique needs of people with ID. For example, there are indications that protection from vaccination for people with Down syndrome may fade quicker than it does for the general population, which has implications for lifestyle choices prior to booster shots becoming available (Eijsvoogel et al., 2017). A second example is the need for individuals with ID, or their supporters, to inform vaccine providers about having epilepsy if applicable (ILAE, 2021), which is very prevalent amongst people with ID (Robertson et al., 2015).

As vaccines and booster shots first became available in Canada, there was a need to determine which population groups should be prioritized for vaccination as sufficient doses were not immediately available for everyone. Despite intellectual disabilities being the highest predictor of mortality after age (Gleason et al., 2021), people with ID were not uniformly prioritized across the country. Ontario, for example, included individuals with ID in the high risk category and allowed for a single caregiver who provides sustained support for daily living to be prioritized as well (Ontario, 2021). BC, alternatively, prioritized individuals who are "extremely clinically vulnerable", including "adults with very significant developmental disabilities that increase risk", but not all individuals with ID or their caregivers (Judd, 2021) (Campanella et al., 2021). Saskatchewan, Prince Edward Island, and Newfoundland and Labrador have similarly limited prioritization to subgroups of individuals with ID based on severity, residence, or other factors (Campanella et al., 2021). The failure to universally protect individuals with ID across Canada has led to multiple calls for reform (Inclusion Canada, 2021) (O'Donovan, 2021) (Carpenter, 2021), which unfortunately, have largely gone unanswered. Moving forward, all people with ID in BC should be included as a priority group for boosters without any limiting language.

While prioritization and education are necessary to help protect people with ID from Covid, they are not sufficient to meet everyone's needs. Many people with ID face additional barriers to vaccination that are not experienced by the general public. For example, some individuals with ID have sensory issues that can prevent them from entering mass vaccinations sites which can be quite loud and overwhelming (Brohman, 2021). Additional barriers may include a lack of internet access and ability to use online booking systems, mobility restrictions, and insufficient

transportation (Campanella et al., 2021). Across North America, jurisdictions have approached these concerns in vastly different ways with some making only seemingly trivial efforts, and others implementing creative and extensive solutions. In the US state of Missouri, for example, a disability advocate was present during all vaccination planning efforts at the state level which ensured that the needs of people with disabilities were considered prior to implementation (Plourde et al., 2021). Other states revised policies related to non-emergency medical transport to allow for better access to mass vaccinations sites, while some states opted to boost reimbursements or partnered with pharmacies to allow for home visits (Plourde et al., 2021). Similar efforts were made by the City of Toronto which provided mobile vaccination sites, transportation to vaccination sites, and assistance booking appointments through a partnership with the Toronto Public Library (Campanella et al., 2021). Further, despite vaccination policy being left to individual states, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention recognized a need for increased support and created a website specifically for practitioners who are providing vaccinations to individuals with ID (CDC, 2022). On it, practitioners can find tips for effective communication, suggestions for booking appointments, educational resources for individuals with ID, and further reading for practitioners themselves.

Conclusion

More than five years have passed since Special Olympics BC released the British Columbia Framework for the Advancement of Health Outcomes for People with Intellectual Disabilities. The document laid out the current knowledge concerning the alarming health disparities faced by individuals with ID in the province, and included recommendations for potential interventions. Following its release, stakeholders of all backgrounds pledged to proactively consider their role in achieving health equity, and to work collectively with other stakeholders to change the status quo. There are countless examples of success stories that resulted from the newfound awareness brought by the Framework Document. This includes the creation of an inclusive policy-making checklist which aimed to assist policymakers in considering the needs of people with ID in their work. Another example was the sustained engagement by stakeholders of groups representing primary care providers, which focused on educating practitioners about the health disparities faced by the population. Yet despite these efforts, there is little evidence to show that health outcomes for people with ID in the province have improved.

In the early days of the pandemic, it became clear that many initiatives that would benefit people with ID would no longer be continuing. In some cases, funding cuts stemming from the uncertain landscape meant programs were placed on hold or cancelled. In other situations, professionals responsible for implementing programs for people with ID were transferred to work on projects related to the pandemic, for example, to participate in contact tracing. Sadly, the loss of existing programs and initiatives was not countered by the creation of new programs and initiatives. It was clear to many observers that once again, people with ID were being largely forgotten, despite the pre-existing health disparities and the increased risk of adverse results from Covid-19. Advocates and supporters were left to fight for even the most common-sense interventions, such as the inclusion of people with ID on vaccination priority lists. For many family members, supporters and

individuals with ID, this wasn't just discouraging or disappointing – it was downright scary. British Columbia was failing to meet the needs of people with ID when they needed support the most, and the results were fatal.

Here in BC, we can, and must, do better! We have the resources, expertise and networks needed to create sustained change and eliminate the health disparities faced by individuals with ID. There is no more time for endless discussions, claims of ignorance or continued failure. If by reading this report you became outraged, pledge to be part of the solution. Every one of us has a role to play in achieving health equity, and it will take all of us to make it a reality. We need governments and health authorities to develop a long-term framework to advance health outcomes for the population and to support them during future health crisis. We also need community groups and NGO's to actively consider means by which they can alter or supplement programs to empower people with ID to live a healthier lifestyle. Research institutions are needed to increase the current understanding of health inequities and to monitor progress moving forward. Health care practitioners are needed to reduce barriers to health care access that people with ID face on a daily basis. Lastly, individual residents in BC are needed to create communities that welcome people with ID and promote inclusion. In other words, we need you!

References

- Alexander, R., Ravi, A., Barclay, H., Sawhney, I., Chester, V., Malcolm, V., Brolly, K., Mukherji, K., Zia, A., Tharian, R., Howell, A., Lane, T., Cooper, V., Langdon, P. E. (2020). Guidance for the treatment and management of covid-19 among people with intellectual disabilities. Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities, 17(3), 256–269. https://doi.org/10.1111/jppi.12352
- 2. Alexandra, P., Angela, H., Ali, A. (2018). Loneliness in people with intellectual and developmental disorders across the lifespan: A systematic review of prevalence and interventions. Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 31(5), 643–658. https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12432
- 3. Ali A, Scior K, Ratti V, Strydom A, King M, Hassiotis A. Discrimination and other barriers to accessing health care: perspectives of patients with mild and moderate intellectual disability and their carers. PLoS One. 2013 Aug 12;8(8):e70855. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0070855.
- 4. Amor, A. M., Navas, P., Verdugo, M. Á., Crespo, M. (2021). Perceptions of people with intellectual and developmental disabilities about Covid-19 in Spain: A cross-sectional study. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research, 65(5), 381–396. https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12821
- 5. Araten-Bergman, T., Shpigelman, C.-N. (2021). Staying connected during COVID-19: Family engagement with adults with developmental disabilities in supported accommodation. Research in Developmental Disabilities, 108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2020.103812

- 6. Asbury, K., Fox, L., Deniz, E., Code, A., Toseeb, U. (2020). How is covid-19 affecting the mental health of children with special educational needs and disabilities and their families? https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/sevyd
- 7. Aziz, S. (2022, April 26). Nearly one-third of the Canadian population has had Covid-19, antibody data shows. Global News. Retrieved May 11, 2022, from https://globalnews.ca/news/8788962/covid-infection-canada-population-antibody-study/.
- 8. BC Center for Disease Control. (2022, May 12). Types of Tests. Health Info. Retrieved July 4, 2022, from http://www.bccdc.ca/healthhttp://www.bccdc.ca/health-info/diseases-conditions/covid-19/testing/types-of-tests-info/diseases-conditions/covid-19/testing/types-of-tests
- 9. Bignal, T., Cassani, I. (2020). (rep.). The Impact of Covid on Disability Services in Europe. EASPD. Retrieved May 20, 2022, from https://www.easpd.eu/fileadmin/user_upload/Publications/second_report_impact_of_covid-19 on disability services in europe.pdf.
- 10. Bennett, D. (2021, September 24). Alberta's triage protocols not implemented, but doctors are already rationing care. CBC News. Retrieved February 2, 2022, from https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/edmonton/alberta-covid-triage-1.6188537.
- 11. Beutel, M. E., Klein, E. M., Brähler, E., Reiner, I., Jünger, C., Michal, M., Wiltink, J., Wild, P. S., Münzel, T., Lackner, K. J., Tibubos, A. N. (2017). Loneliness in the general population: Prevalence, determinants and relations to mental health. BMC Psychiatry, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-017-1262-x
- 12. Bobbette, N., Hamdani, Y., Thomson, K., Abou-Chacra, M., Volpe, T., Lunsky, Y. (2020). (rep.). Recognizing the Mental Health Needs of an Essential Workforce Being a Direct Support Professional in the Time of COVID-19. Retrieved May 13, 2022, from https://www.camh.ca/-/media/files/azrielireport-dsp-covid19-pdf.pdf.
- 13. Bosworth, D. A. and M. (2021, February 11). Updated estimates of Coronavirus (covid-19) related deaths by disability status, England: 24 January to 20 November 2020. Updated estimates of coronavirus (COVID-19) related deaths by disability status, England Office for National Statistics. Retrieved April 6, 2022, from https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deat hs/articles/coronaviruscovid19relateddeathsbydisabilitystatusenglandandwales/24januar vto20november2020
- 14. Brohman, E. (2021, June 11). 200 Manitobans with intellectual disabilities, sensory issues still waiting for Covid-19 vaccine. CBC News. Retrieved February 16, 2022, from https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/people-with-intellectual-disabilities-covid-19-vaccines-1.6060158.
- 15. Brown, O. (2020). (rep.). The Equality and Human Rights Implications of the COVID-19 emergency for people with learning/ intellectual disabilities Scottish Commission for People with Learning Disabilities. Scottish Commission for People with Learning Disabilities. Retrieved July 5, 2022, from https://www.scld.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/The-Equality-and-Human-Rights-Implications-of-the-COVID-19-emergency-SCLD-Submission_designed.pdf.
- 16. Buffam, R. (2021, December 21). B.C. discourages Covid-19 testing for people without symptoms as cases surge. CTV News Vancouver Island. Retrieved July 4, 2022, from https://vancouverisland.ctvnews.ca/b-c-discourages-covid-19-testing-for-people-without-symptoms-as-cases-surge-1.5715462.

- 17. Cacioppo, M., Bouvier, S., Bailly, R., Houx, L., Lempereur, M., Mensah-Gourmel, J., Kandalaft, C., Varengue, R., Chatelin, A., Vagnoni, J., Vuillerot, C., Gautheron, V., Dinomais, M., Dheilly, E., Brochard, S., Pons, C. (2021). Emerging health challenges for children with physical disabilities and their parents during the covid-19 pandemic: The Echo French Survey. Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine, 64(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rehab.2020.08.001
- 18. Campanella, S., Rotenberg, S., Volpe, T., Balogh, R., and Lunsky, Y. (2021). Including People with Developmental Disabilities as a Priority Group in Canada's COVID-19 Vaccination Program: Key Considerations. Part 2. Toronto, ON: Health Care Access Research and Developmental Disabilities, CAMH.
- 19. Carpenter, P. (2021, February 1). Coronavirus: Parents of Quebecers with developmental challenges call for vaccine priority. Global News. Retrieved February 14, 2022, from https://globalnews.ca/news/7612834/coronavirus-parents-quebecers-intellectual-challenges-vaccine-priority/.
- CDC. (2022, January 20). Talking to patients with intellectual and developmental disabilities about covid-19 vaccination. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved February 17, 2022, from https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/covid-19/hcp/disabilities.html
- 21. Chen, S.-Q., Chen, S.-D., Li, X.-K., Ren, J. (2020). Mental health of parents of special needs children in China during the COVID-19 pandemic. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(24). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17249519
- 22. Clift, A. K., Coupland, C. A. C., Keogh, R. H., Hemingway, H., Hippisley-Cox, J. (2020). Covid-19 mortality risk in Down syndrome: Results from a cohort study of 8 million adults. Annals of Internal Medicine, 174(4), 572–576. https://doi.org/10.7326/m20-4986
- 23. Cooper, S. A., McLean, G., Guthrie, B., McConnachie, A., Mercer, S., & Sullivan, F. (2015). Multiple physical and mental health comorbidity in adults with intellectual disabilities: population-based cross-sectional analysis. Institute of Health and Wellbeing University of Glasgow.
- 24. Courtenay, K. (2020). Covid-19: Challenges for people with intellectual disability. BMJ. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1609
- 25. Courtenay, K., Perera, B. (2020). Covid-19 and people with intellectual disability: Impacts of a pandemic. Irish Journal of Psychological Medicine, 37(3), 231–236. https://doi.org/10.1017/ipm.2020.45
- 26. Cooray, S. E., Bakala, A. (2005). Anxiety disorders in people with learning disabilities. Advances in Psychiatric Treatment, 11(5), 355–361. https://doi.org/10.1192/apt.11.5.355
- 27. CTV News. (2022, January 14). Provinces, Territories Vary on Lifting COVID-19 Health Restrictions. Retrieved January 28, 2022, from https://www.ctvnews.ca/health/coronavirus/provinces-territories-vary-on-lifting-covid-19-health-restrictions-1.5739879.
- 28. CTV. (2021, October 13). Data shows Saskatchewan a few intensive care patients away from triage protocol. CTV News. Retrieved February 2, 2022, from https://regina.ctvnews.ca/data-shows-saskatchewan-a-few-intensive-care-patients-away-from-triage-protocol-1.5621617.
- 29. Cuypers, M., Schalk, B. W., Koks-Leensen, M. C., Nägele, M. E., Bakker-van Gijssel, E. J., Naaldenberg, J., Leusink, G. L. (2020). Mortality of people with intellectual disabilities during the 2017/2018 influenza epidemic in the netherlands: Potential implications for

- the COVID-19 pandemic. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research, 64(7), 482–488. https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12739
- Doherty, A. J., Atherton, H., Boland, P., Hastings, R., Hives, L., Hood, K., James-Jenkinson, L., Leavey, R., Randell, E., Reed, J., Taggart, L., Wilson, N., Chauhan, U. (2020). Barriers and facilitators to primary health care for people with intellectual disabilities and/or autism: An integrative review. BJGP Open, 4(3). https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgpopen20x101030.
- 31. Donner, B., Mutter, R., Scior, K. (2010). Mainstream in-patient mental health care for people with intellectual disabilities: Service user, carer and provider experiences. Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 23(3), 214–225. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-3148.2009.00527.x
- 32. Eijsvoogel, N. B., Hollegien, M. I., Bok, V. L., Derksen-Lubsen, A. G., Dikken, F. P., Leenders, S. A., Pijning, A., Post, E., Wojciechowski, M., Hilbink, M., de Vries, E. (2017). Declining antibody levels after hepatitis B vaccination in Down syndrome: A need for booster vaccination? Journal of Medical Virology, 89(9), 1682–1685. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.24813
- 33. Embregts, P. J., Tournier, T., Frielink, N. (2020). Experiences and needs of direct support staff working with people with intellectual disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic: A thematic analysis. Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 34(2), 480–490. https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12812
- 34. Embregts, P. J., van den Bogaard, K. J., Frielink, N., Voermans, M. A., Thalen, M., Jahoda, A. (2020). A thematic analysis into the experiences of people with a mild intellectual disability during the COVID-19 lockdown period. International Journal of Developmental Disabilities, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1080/20473869.2020.1827214
- 35. Embregts, P. J., Tournier, T., Frielink, N. (2021). The experiences of psychologists working with people with intellectual disabilities during the Covid-19 crisis. Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 35(1), 295–298. https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12916
- 36. Frawley, P., Wilson, N. J. (2016). Young people with intellectual disability talking about sexuality education and information. Sexuality and Disability, 34(4), 469–484. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11195-016-9460-x
- 37. Gacek, M., Krzywoszanski, L. (2021). Symptoms of anxiety and depression in students with developmental disabilities during COVID-19 lockdown in Poland. Frontiers in Psychiatry, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.576867
- 38. Geukes, C., Bruland, D., Latteck, Ä.-D. (2018). Health Literacy in people with intellectual disabilities: A mixed-method literature review. Kontakt, 20(4), 449–457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.kontakt.2018.10.008
- 39. Gil-Llario, M. D., Díaz-Rodríguez, I., Morell-Mengual, V., Gil-Juliá, B., Ballester-Arnal, R. (2021). Sexual health in Spanish people with intellectual disability: The impact of the lockdown due to covid-19. Sexuality Research and Social Policy. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13178-021-00621-7
- 40. Gilmore, L., Cuskelly, M. (2014). Vulnerability to Loneliness in People with Intellectual Disability: An Explanatory Model. Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities, 11(3), 192–199.
- 41. Gleason, J., Ross, W., Fossi, A., Blonsky, H., Tobias, J., Stephens, M. (2021). The Devastating Impact of Covid-19 on Individuals with Intellectual Disabilities in the United States. New England Journal of Medicine. https://doi.org/10.1056/CAT.21.0051

- 42. Glover, G. (2020). Covid deaths of people with learning disabilities GOV.UK. Deaths of people identified as having learning disabilities with COVID-19 in England in the spring of 2020. Retrieved April 6, 2022, from https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/933612/COVID-19 learning disabilities mortality report.pdf
- 43. Gómez-Puerta, M., Chiner, E. (2021). Internet use and online behaviour of adults with intellectual disability: Support Workers' perceptions, training and online risk mediation. Disability & Society, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2021.1874300
- 44. Goodman, K. E., Magder, L. S., Baghdadi, J. D., Pineles, L., Levine, A. R., Perencevich, E. N., Harris, A. D. (2020). Impact of sex and metabolic comorbidities on coronavirus disease 2019 (covid-19) mortality risk across age groups: 66 646 inpatients across 613 U.S. hospitals. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 73(11). https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa1787
- 45. Province of British Columbia. (2022, June 23). How to get vaccinated for covid-19. How to get vaccinated for COVID-19. Retrieved June 30, 2022, from https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/covid-19/vaccine/register
- 46. Greenway, C. W., Eaton-Thomas, K. (2020). Parent experiences of home-schooling children with special educational needs or disabilities during the coronavirus pandemic. British Journal of Special Education, 47(4), 510–535. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8578.12341
- 47. Grumi, S., Provenzi, L., Gardani, A., Aramini, V., Dargenio, E., Naboni, C., Vacchini, V., Borgatti, R. (2020). Rehabilitation Services Lockdown during the COVID-19 emergency: The Mental Health Response of caregivers of children with Neurodevelopmental Disabilities. Disability and Rehabilitation, 43(1), 27–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2020.1842520
- 48. H-CARDD. (2021, September 24). Lou and Talia's Vaccine Stories. Retrieved July 1, 2022, from https://www.porticonetwork.ca/web/hcardd/news/-/blogs/lou-and-talia-s-vaccine-stories.
- 49. Hatton, C., Bailey, T., Bradshaw, J., Caton, S., Flynn, S., Gillooly, A., Jahoda, A., Maguire, R., Marriott, A., Mulhall, P., Oloidi, E., Taggart, L., Todd, S., Abbott, D., Beyer, S., Gore, N., Heslop, P., Scior, K., Hastings, R. P. (2021). The willingness of UK adults with intellectual disabilities to take Covid-19 Vaccines. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research, 65(11), 949–961. https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12884
- 50. Healy, B., McGuire, D., Evans, S., & Carley, S. (2009). Sexuality and personal relationships for people with an intellectual disability. Part I: service-user perspectives. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research, 905-912.
- 51. Hemm, C., Dagnan, D., & Meyer, T. (2015). Identifying Training Needs for Mainstream Healthcare Professionals, to Prepare Them for Working with Individuals with Intellectual Disabilities: A Systematic Review. Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 98-110
- 52. Henderson, A., Fleming, M., Cooper, S.-A., Pell, J. P., Melville, C., Mackay, D. F., Hatton, C., Kinnear, D. (2021). Covid-19 infection and outcomes in a population-based cohort of 17 203 adults with intellectual disabilities compared with the general population. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2021-218192
- 53. Hermans, H., Beekman, A. T. F., Evenhuis, H. M. (2013). Prevalence of depression and anxiety in older users of formal Dutch intellectual disability services. Journal of Affective Disorders, 144(1-2), 94–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2012.06.011

- 54. Hsieh, K., Rimmer, J. H., Heller, T. (2013). Obesity and associated factors in adults with intellectual disability. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research, 58(9), 851–863. https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12100
- 55. Hsieh, K., Scott, H. M., Murthy, S. (2020). Associated risk factors for depression and anxiety in adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities: Five-year follow up. American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities, 125(1), 49–63. https://doi.org/10.1352/1944-7558-125.1.49
- 56. Hüls, A., Costa, A. C. S., Dierssen, M., Baksh, R. A., Bargagna, S., Baumer, N. T., Brandão, A. C., Carfi, A., Carmona-Iragui, M., Chicoine, B. A., Ghosh, S., Lakhanpaul, M., Manso, C., Mayer, M.-A., Ortega, M. del, de Asua, D. R., Rebillat, A.-S., Russell, L. A., Sgandurra, G., ... Strydom, A. (2021). Medical vulnerability of individuals with down syndrome to severe COVID-19–data from the Trisomy 21 Research Society and the UK isaric4c survey. EClinicalMedicine, 33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.100769
- 57. ladarola, S., Siegel, J. F., Gao, Q., McGrath, K., Bonuck, K. A. (2022). Covid-19 vaccine perceptions in New York State's intellectual and Developmental Disabilities Community. Disability and Health Journal, 15(1), 101178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dhjo.2021.101178
- 58. ILAE International League Against Epilepsy. (2021, November 1). Covid-19 vaccines and people with epilepsy. COVID-19 Vaccines and People with Epilepsy // International League Against Epilepsy. Retrieved February 11, 2022, from https://www.ilae.org/patient-care/covid-19-and-epilepsy/covid-19-vaccines-and-people-with-epilepsy
- 59. Jenkins, R., Rose, J., Lovell, C. (1997). Psychological well-being of staff working with people who have challenging behaviour. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research, 41(6), 502–511. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2788.1997.tb00743.x
- 60. Jeste, S., Hyde, C., Distefano, C., Halladay, A., Ray, S., Porath, M., Wilson, R. B., Thurm, A. (2020). Changes in access to educational and healthcare services for individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities during Covid-19 restrictions. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research, 64(11), 825–833. https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12776
- 61. Jones, J., McQueen, M., Lowe, S., Minnes, P., Rischke, A. (2015). Interprofessional Education in Canada: Addressing Knowledge, Skills, and Attitudes Concerning Intellectual Disability for Future Healthcare Professionals. Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities, 172-180.
- 62. Judd, A. (2021, April 20). B.C. Covid-19 vaccination information: Contacts, timelines and what you need to know. Global News. Retrieved February 14, 2022, from https://globalnews.ca/news/7707844/b-c-covid-19-vaccination-information-contacts-update/
- 63. Kavanagh, A., Dickinson, H., Carey, G., Llewellyn, G., Emerson, E., Disney, G., Hatton, C. (2021). Improving health care for disabled people in covid-19 and beyond: Lessons from Australia and England. Disability and Health Journal, 14(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dhjo.2020.101050
- 64. Kim, M. A., Yi, J., Jung, S. M., Hwang, S., Sung, J. (2021). A qualitative study on parents' concerns about adult children with intellectual disabilities amid the COVID-19 pandemic in South Korea. Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 34(4), 1145–1155. https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12875
- 65. Kleinman, Z. (2020, March 26). Coronavirus: 'Frailty score' plan angers special needs parents. BBC News. Retrieved February 7, 2022, from https://www.bbc.com/news/health-52022965.

- 66. Kukreti, S., Rifa, A., Padmalatha, S., Lin, C.-Y., Yu, T., Ko, W.-C., Chen, P.-L., Strong, C., Ko, N.-Y. (2022). Willingness to obtain COVID-19 vaccination in general population: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Global Health, 12. https://doi.org/doi: 10.7189/jogh.12.05006
- 67. Paulauskaite, L., Farris, O., Spencer, H. M., EPICC-ID group, Hassiotis, A. (2021). My son can't socially distance or wear a mask: How families of preschool children with severe developmental delays and challenging behavior experienced the COVID-19 pandemic. Journal of Mental Health Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 14(2), 225–236. https://doi.org/10.1080/19315864.2021.1874578
- 68. Pelleboer-Gunnink, H. A., Van Oorsouw, W. M., Van Weeghel, J., Embregts, P. J. (2017). Mainstream health professionals' stigmatising attitudes towards people with intellectual disabilities: A systematic review. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research, 61(5), 411–434. https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12353
- 69. Public Health Ethics Consultative Group, Public health ethics framework: A guide for use in response to the COVID-19 pandemic in Canada (2021). Retrieved February 3, 2022, from https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/diseases/2019-novel-coronavirus-infection/canadas-reponse/ethics-framework-guide-use-response-covid-19-pandemic.html.
- PRESS RELEASE: Inclusion Canada seeks priority access to COVID-19 vaccine. (2021, January 19). Retrieved February 14, 2022, from https://inclusioncanada.ca/2021/01/19/inclusion-canada-calls-on-governments-to-prioritize-people-with-developmental-disabilities-their-families-and-support-staff-for-coivd-19-vaccine/.
- 71. Province of British Columbia. (2022, January 25). Covid-19 province-wide restrictions. Province of British Columbia. Retrieved January 28, 2022, from https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/covid-19/info/restrictions
- 72. La Sociedad Científica Española de Enfermería, Plan de Contingencia para los Servicios de Medicina Intensiva frente a la pandemia COVID-19 (2020). Retrieved February 5, 2022, from https://www.semicyuc.org/covid19 files/Plan de Contingencia COVID-19.pdf.
- 73. Landes, S. D., Turk, M. A., Formica, M. K., McDonald, K. E., Stevens, J. D. (2020). Covid-19 outcomes among people with intellectual and developmental disability living in residential group homes in New York State. Disability and Health Journal, 13(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dhjo.2020.100969
- 74. Lightfoot, E., Yun, H., Moone, R., Otis, J., Suleiman, K., Turck, K., Kutzler, C. (2021). Changes to family caregiving of older adults and adults with disabilities during COVID-19. Gerontology and Geriatric Medicine, 7. https://doi.org/10.1177/23337214211002404
- 75. Lin, E., Balogh, R., Selick, A., Wilson, A., & Lunsky, Y. (2016). Adults with Developmental Disabilities Plus a Mental Illness or Addiction (DD-Plus). Healthcare Quarterly.
- 76. Liu, Y., Yuan, Y. Q., Wang, M. J., Han, F. Y., Wen, G. J., Zhang, J. Z., ... & Wang, D. M. (2020). The level of physical activity among children with intellectual disability in Jinan. Chinese Journal of School Health, 41(11), 1730-1733.
- 77. Lunsky, Y., Klein-Geltink, J. E., & Yates, E. A. (2013). Atlas on the Primary Care of Adults with Developmental Disabilities in Ontario. Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.

- 78. Lunsky, Y., Bobbette, N., Chacra, M. A., Wang, W., Zhao, H., Thomson, K., Hamdani, Y. (2021). Predictors of worker mental health in Intellectual Disability Services during COVID-19. Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 34(6), 1655–1660. https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12892
- 79. Lunsky, Y., Kithulegoda, N., Thai, K., Benham, J. L., Lang, R., Desveaux, L., Ivers, N. M. (2021). Beliefs regarding Covid-19 vaccines among Canadian workers in the intellectual disability sector prior to Vaccine Implementation. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research, 65(7), 617–625. https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12838
- 80. Lunsky, Y., Jahoda, A., Navas, P., Campanella, S., Havercamp, S. (2022). The Mental Health and well-being of adults with intellectual disability during the Covid-19 pandemic: A narrative review. Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities, 19(1), 35–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/jppi.12412
- 81. Makary, M. (2020). Risk Factors for COVID-19 Mortality among Privately Insured Patients. White Paper. Retrieved April 6, 2022, from <a href="https://s3.amazonaws.com/media2.fairhealth.org/whitepaper/asset/Risk%20Factors%20for%20COVID-19%20Mortality%20among%20Privately%20Insured%20Patients%20-%20A%20Claims%20Data%20Analysis%20-%20A%20FAIR%20Health%20White%20Paper.pdf.
- 82. Masi, A., Mendoza Diaz, A., Tully, L., Azim, S. I., Woolfenden, S., Efron, D., Eapen, V. (2021). Impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the well-being of children with neurodevelopmental disabilities and their parents. Journal of Pediatrics and Child Health, 57(5), 631–636. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpc.15285
- 83. McKenzie, K., Armitage, B., Murray, G., James, I. (2020). The use of therapeutic untruths by staff supporting people with an intellectual disability who display behaviors that challenge. Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 34(1), 28–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12780
- 84. McMahon, M., Hatton, C., Stansfield, J., Cockayne, G. (2020). An audit of the well-being of staff working in intellectual disability settings in Ireland during the COVID-19 pandemic. Tizard Learning Disability Review, 25(4), 237–246. https://doi.org/10.1108/tldr-09-2020-0027
- 85. Ministry of Health Health. (2022, March 4). BC Government News. Retrieved July 4, 2022, from https://news.gov.bc.ca/releases/2022HLTH0075-000298.
- 86. Ministry of Health, COVID-19 Ethical Decision-Making Framework (2020). Retrieved February 3, 2022, from http://www.bccdc.ca/Health-Professionals-Site/Documents/COVID-19 Ethical Decision Making Framework.pdf.
- 87. Morgan, V., Leonard, H., Bourke, J., & Jablensky, A. (2008). Intellectual disability cooccurring with schizophrenia and other psychiatric illness: population-based study. British Journal of Psychiatry, 364-372
- 88. Morin, D., Rivard, M., Cobigo, V., & Lepine, M. (2010). Intellectual Disabilities and Depression: How to Adapt Psychological Assessment and Intervention. Canadian Psychology, 185-93
- 89. Naming the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) and the virus that causes it. (2020 (B), February 11). World Health Organization. Retrieved January 27, 2022, from https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/technical-guidance/naming-the-coronavirus-disease-(covid-2019)-and-the-virus-that-causes-it.
- 90. Naqvi, D., Perera, B., Mitchell, S., Sheehan, R., Shankar, R. (2021). Covid-19 pandemic impact on psychotropic prescribing for adults with intellectual disability: An observational

- study in english specialist community services. BJPsych Open, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1192/bjo.2021.1064
- 91. Navas, P., Verdugo, M. Á., Martínez, S., Amor, A. M., Crespo, M., Deliu, M. M. (2021). Impact of Covid -19 on the burden of care of families of people with intellectual and developmental disabilities. Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 35(2), 577–586. https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12969
- 92. Neece, C., McIntyre, L. L., Fenning, R. (2020). Examining the impact of Covid-19 in ethnically diverse families with young children with intellectual and developmental disabilities. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research, 64(10). https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12769
- 93. NHS Choices. (2022, April 28). Long-term effects of coronavirus (long COVID). NHS. Retrieved May 13, 2022, from https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/long-term-effects-of-coronavirus-long-covid/
- 94. NICE, COVID-19 rapid guideline: Managing COVID-19 (2022). Retrieved February 7, 2022, from https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng191/resources/covid19-rapid-guideline-managing-covid19-pdf-51035553326.
- 95. NIH Leadership. (2020, September 4). Why covid-19 testing is the key to getting back to normal. National Institute on Aging. Retrieved July 4, 2022, from https://www.nia.nih.gov/news/why-covid-19-testing-key-getting-back-normal
- 96. Oakley, B., Tillmann, J., Ruigrok, A., Baranger, A., Takow, C., Charman, T., Jones, E. J. H., Cusack, J., Doherty, M., Violland, P., Wroczyńska, A., Simonoff, E., Buitelaar, J., Gallagher, L., Murphy, D. (2021). Covid-19 health and Social Care Access for autistic people and individuals with intellectual disability: A European Policy Review. British Medical Journal. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/n6d3f
- 97. O'Donovan, C. (2021, April 2). Saskatchewan doctor calls for vaccine prioritization for intellectually disabled. Global News. Retrieved February 14, 2022, from https://globalnews.ca/news/7724034/covid-19-vaccination-priority-intellectually-disabled-saskatchewan/.
- 98. O'Leary, L., Cooper, S. A., Hughes-McCormack, L. (2017). Early death and causes of death of people with intellectual disabilities: A systematic review. Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 31(3), 325–342. https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12417
- 99. Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation and the Office of Behavioral Health, Disability, and Aging Policy, Plourde, E., Haltermann, W. Dotty, P., Covid-19 and People with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities Final Report (2021). Retrieved February 16, 2022, from https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/2021-07/COVIDIDDFR_0.pdf.
- 100. Ontario. (2021, September 14). Ontario's COVID-19 vaccination plan. COVID. Retrieved February 14, 2022, from https://covid-19.ontario.ca/ontarios-covid-19-vaccination-plan#highest-risk
- 101. Ontario Temporarily Moving to Modified Step Two of the Roadmap to Reopen. Ontario newsroom. (2022, January 3). Retrieved January 28, 2022, from https://news.ontario.ca/en/release/1001394/ontario-temporarily-moving-to-modified-step-two-of-the-roadmap-to-reopen
- 102. Ouellette-Kuntz, H., & Martin, L. (2014). Applied Health Research Question Report: Aging profiles of adults with and without developmental disabilities in Ontario. Health Care Access Research and Developmental Disabilities (H-CARDD), September. Retrieved August 20, 2018.

- 103. Perera, B., Laugharne, R., Henley, W., Zabel, A., Lamb, K., Branford, D., Courtanay, K., Alexander, R., Purandare, K., Wijeratne, A., Radhakrishnan, V., McNamara, E., Daureeawoo, Y., Sawhney, I., Scheepers, M., Taylor, G., Shankar, R. (2020). Covid-19 deaths in people with intellectual disability in the UK and Ireland: Descriptive study. BJPsych Open, 6(6). https://doi.org/10.1192/bjo.2020.102
- 104. Redquest, B. K., Tint, A., Ries, H., Lunsky, Y. (2020). Exploring the experiences of siblings of adults with intellectual/developmental disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research, 65(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12793
- 105. Reid KA, Smiley E, & Cooper SA (2011). Prevalence and associations of anxiety disorders in adults with intellectual disabilities. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research, 55(2), 172–181. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2788.2010.01360.x
- 106. Reiss, S., Levitan, G. W., & Szyszko, J. (1982). Emotional disturbance and mental retardation: diagnostic overshadowing. American journal of mental deficiency.
- 107. Ryan, C., Bergin, M., Wells, J. S. G. (2019). Work-related stress and well-being of direct care workers in Intellectual Disability Services: A scoping review of the literature. International Journal of Developmental Disabilities, 67(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/20473869.2019.1582907
- 108. Robb, A., & Pritchard, E. (2020, April 8). Disability Alliance BC. Retrieved February 3, 2022, from http://disabilityalliancebc.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Letter-to-Minister-Dix-Re-Triage-Protocol.pdf.
- 109. Robertson, J., Hatton, C., Emerson, E., Baines, S. (2015). Prevalence of epilepsy among people with intellectual disabilities: A systematic review. Seizure, 29, 46–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seizure.2015.03.016
- 110. Rockwood, K. (2005). A global clinical measure of fitness and frailty in elderly people. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 173(5), 489–495. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.050051
- 111. Rogers, G., Perez-Olivas, G., Stenfert Kroese, B., Patel, V., Murphy, G., Rose, J., Cooper, V., Langdon, P. E., Hiles, S., Clifford, C., Willner, P. (2021). The experiences of mothers of children and young people with intellectual disabilities during the first COVID-19 Lockdown period. Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 34(6), 1421–1430. https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12884
- 112. Sanford, A. (2020, April 3). EuroNews. Retrieved January 28, 2022, from https://www.euronews.com/2020/04/02/coronavirus-in-europe-spain-s-death-toll-hits-10-000-after-record-950-new-deaths-in-24-hou.
- 113. Saskatchewan Health Authority, Saskatchewan Critical Care Resource Allocation Framework: COVID-19 Pandemic (2020). Retrieved February 5, 2022, from https://www.saskhealthauthority.ca/system/files/2021-06/The%20Saskatchewan%20Critical%20Care%20Resource%20Allocation%20Framework.pdf.
- 114. Scheffers, F., Moonen, X., van Vugt, E. (2021). Assessing the quality of support and discovering sources of resilience during COVID-19 measures in people with intellectual disabilities by professional carers. Research in Developmental Disabilities, 111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2021.103889
- 115. Schormans, A. F., Hutton, S., Blake, M., Earle, K., Head, K. J. (2020). Social Isolation continued: Covid-19 shines a light on what self-advocates know too well. Qualitative Social Work, 20(1-2), 83–89. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325020981755

- 116. Shooshtari, S. (2017). Aging with intellectual and developmental disabilities and dementia in Manitoba. Advances in Mental Health and Intellectual Disabilities, 11(4), 134-144. Retrieved August 20, 2018.
- 117. SOBC. (2022, April 1). SOBC Survey for Service Providers. Web.
- 118. SOBC. (2022, April 1). SOBC Survey for Supporters and Family Members. Web.
- 119. SOBC. (2022, April 1). SOBC Survey for Individuals with Intellectual Disabilities. Web.
- 120. Strydom, A., Hassiotis, A., King, M., & Livingston, G. (2009). The relationship of dementia prevalence in older adults with intellectual disability (ID) to age and severity of ID. Psychological Medicine, 13-21.
- 121. Surrey Place. (n.d.). Covid vaccine SP Social Story V3 surrey place. DD Primary Care. Retrieved July 1, 2022, from https://ddprimarycare.surreyplace.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/COVID-vaccine-SP-social-story-v3.pdf
- 122. Taggart, L., McLaughlin, D., B, Q., & McFane, C. (2007). Listening to people with intellectual disabilities who misuse alcohol and drugs. Health and Social Care in the Community, 360-368.
- 123. Taheri, A., Perry, A., & Minnes, P. (2016). Examining the social participation of children and adolescents with Intellectual Disabilities and Autism Spectrum Disorder in relation to peers. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research, 60(5), 435-443.
- 124. Tamas, D., Brkic Jovanovic, N., Rajic, M., Bugarski Ignjatovic, V., Peric Prkosovacki, B. (2019). Professionals, parents and the general public: Attitudes towards the sexuality of persons with intellectual disability. Sexuality and Disability, 37(2), 245–258. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11195-018-09555-2
- 125. Taquet, M., Dercon, Q., Luciano, S., Geddes, J. R., Husain, M., Harrison, P. J. (2021). Incidence, co-occurrence, and evolution of long-COVID features: A 6-month retrospective cohort study of 273,618 survivors of covid-19. PLOS Medicine, 18(9). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003773
- 126. Theis, N., Campbell, N., De Leeuw, J., Owen, M., Schenke, K. C. (2021). The effects of covid-19 restrictions on physical activity and mental health of children and young adults with physical and/or intellectual disabilities. Disability and Health Journal, 14(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dhjo.2021.101064
- 127. Thomas, R. (2020, April). Learning disabilities patients told they may be 'too frail' for mechanical ventilation if they get covid-19. Health Service Journal. Retrieved February 5, 2022, from https://www.hsj.co.uk/coronavirus/learning-disabilities-patients-told-they-may-be-too-frail-for-mechanical-ventilation-if-they-get-covid-19/7027318.article.
- 128. Trip, H., Northway, R., Perkins, E., Mirfin-Veitch, B., Adams, R. (2022). Covid-19: Evolving challenges and opportunities for residential and vocational intellectual disability service providers. Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities, 19(1), 102–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/jppi.12414
- 129. Tomchek, S. D., Dunn, W. (2007). Sensory processing in children with and without autism: A comparative study using the short sensory profile. The American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 61(2), 190–200. https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.61.2.190
- 130. Turk, M. A., Landes, S. D., Formica, M. K., Goss, K. D. (2020). Intellectual and developmental disability and covid-19 case-fatality trends: Trinetx analysis. Disability and Health Journal, 13(3), 100942. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dhjo.2020.100942
- 131. Uljarević, M., Baranek, G., Vivanti, G., Hedley, D., Hudry, K., Lane, A. (2017). Heterogeneity of sensory features in autism spectrum disorder: Challenges and

- perspectives for future research. Autism Research, 10(5), 703–710. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.1747
- 132. U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. (2022, May 3). Covid-19 testing: What you need to know. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved July 4, 2022, from https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/symptoms-testing/testing.html
- 133. Vancampfort, D., Schuch, F., Van Damme, T., Firth, J., Suetani, S., Stubbs, B., Van Biesen, D. (2021). Prevalence of diabetes in people with intellectual disabilities and age- and gender-matched controls: A meta-analysis. Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 35(2), 301–311. https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12949
- 134. van den Bogaard, K. J., Nijman, H. L., Palmstierna, T., Embregts, P. J. (2017). Characteristics of aggressive behavior in people with mild to borderline intellectual disability and co-occurring psychopathology. Journal of Mental Health Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 11(2), 124–142. https://doi.org/10.1080/19315864.2017.1408726
- 135. Vescera, Z. (2020, April 3). Advocates say people with intellectual disabilities left behind in Covid-19 response. Saskatoon Star Pheonix. Retrieved July 1, 2022, from https://thestarphoenix.com/news/local-news/advocates-say-people-with-intellectual-disabilities-left-behind-in-covid-19-response/.
- 136. Verdugo, M. A., Aguayo, V., Arias, V. B., García-Domínguez, L. (2020). A systematic review of the assessment of support needs in people with intellectual and developmental disabilities. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(24). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17249494
- 137. Waddington, A., Robbins, S. (2021). 'I Want the Vaccine So I Can Live.' Opinion. Retrieved June 30, 2022, from https://thetyee.ca/Opinion/2021/03/04/Vaccine-To-Live-Prioritizing-Disabled-People/.
- 138. Watson, B., Kulkarni, A. (2021, December 24). B.C.'s contact tracing and testing at maximum capacity, health officials say. CBC News. Retrieved February 3, 2022, from https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/british-columbia/covid-briefing-dec24-1.6297668.
- 139. WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-19 11 March 2020. (2020 (A), March 11). World Health Organization. Retrieved January 27, 2022, from https://www.who.int/director-general/speeches/detail/who-director-general-s-opening-remarks-at-the-media-briefing-on-covid-19---11-march-2020.
- 140. WHO-Europe. (2016, 11 28). Definition: intellectual disability. Retrieved from World Health Organization Europe: http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/noncommunicablediseases/mental-health/news/news/2010/15/childrens-right-to-family-life/definitionintellectual-disability
- 141. Whyte, L. E. (2022, January 28). State policies may send people with disabilities to the back of the line for Ventilators. Center for Public Integrity. Retrieved February 7, 2022, from https://publicintegrity.org/health/coronavirus-and-inequality/state-policies-may-send-people-with-disabilities-to-the-back-of-the-line-for-ventilators/
- 142. Willner, P., Rose, J., Stenfert Kroese, B., Murphy, G. H., Langdon, P. E., Clifford, C., Hutchings, H., Watkins, A., Hiles, S., Cooper, V. (2020). Effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Mental Health of carers of people with intellectual disabilities. Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 33(6), 1523–1533. https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12811
- 143. Wisniewski, T.; Pratico, D. (2016). Down syndrome dementia and Alzheimer disease: Common pathology, common therapeutic targets. Neurobiology of Aging, 39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016.01.106

- 144. Yuan, Y. Q., Ding, J. N., Bi, N., Wang, M. J., Zhou, S. C., Wang, X. L., Zhang, S. H., Liu, Y., Roswal, G. (2021). Physical activity and sedentary behaviour among children and adolescents with intellectual disabilities during the COVID-19 lockdown in China. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research. https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12898
- 145. Zaagsma, M., Volkers, K. M., Swart, E. A. K., Schippers, A. P., Van Hove, G. (2020). The use of online support by people with intellectual disabilities living independently during Covid-19. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research, 64(10). https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12770
- 146. Zhou, F., Yu, T., Du, R., Fan, G., Liu, Y., Liu, Z., Xiang, J., Wang, Y., Song, B., Gu, X., Guan, L., Wei, Y., Li, H., Wu, X., Xu, J., Tu, S., Zhang, Y., Chen, H., Cao, B. (2020). Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with covid-19 in Wuhan, China: A retrospective cohort study. The Lancet, 395(10229), 1054–1062. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30566-3